# SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

WOOA

FILED SID J. WHITE AUG 28 1995

CLERK, SUPREME COURT

Chief Deputy Clerk

By,

PORT OF PALM BEACH DISTRICT, )

Petitioner,

V.

DEPARTMENT OF REVENUE, et al,

Respondents

Case No. 85,434 District Court of Appeal, 4th District - 93-03053

## **BRIEF ON THE MERITS OF PETITIONER**

### PORT OF PALM BEACH DISTRICT

Robert B. Cook, P. A. General Counsel for Petitioner PORT OF PALM BEACH DISTRICT 11911 U.S. Highway One Suite 308 North Palm Beach, FL 33408 Robert B. Cook

# GREENBERG, TRAURIG, HOFFMAN LIPOFF, ROSEN & QUENTEL, P.A. Co-Counsel for Petitioner

777 South Flagler Drive Suite 310 East West Palm Beach, Fl 33401 Steven M. Katzman Bridget A. Berry

# PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

Petitioner, The Port of Palm Beach District (Plaintiff and Appellee below), will be referred to as the Port of Palm Beach District or the Petitioner. The Respondent, State of Florida, Department of Revenue, "DOR", Defendant and Appellant below, will be referred to as DOR or the Respondent. The Palm Beach County Tax Assessor, Gary R. Nikolits, Defendant and Appellant below will be referred to as Nikolits or jointly with DOR as Respondents.

ĩ

Reference to the trial record will be cited as "R", followed by the page number corresponding to the Clerk's Index, along with the title to the item referred to, such as the Final Judgement.

### STATEMENT OF THE FACTS AND CASE

Formed in 1915 by a special act of the Legislature, the Port of Palm Beach District is one of the twelve deep water ports of this state as set forth in Section 311.09(1), Fla. Stat.. It is a port authority as defined in Section 315.02(2), Fla. Stat., and is not a municipality nor a creature of Palm Beach County.

ē

ê

The Port of Palm Beach District is considered to be a landlord port, in that the buildings and warehouses it owns are leased to companies that operate their import/export businesses over the docks and wharfs of Petitioner. The tenants consist of bulk cement handlers that import their cement from Mexico and Europe, and resell it to local manufacturers of cement blocks and other cement products; export shipping companies using semi-tractor trailer containers to send products to the Caribbean and Central America; sugar cooperatives that export bulk sugar and molasses; import of bulk fuel oil for Florida Power and Light Company; bulk shippers of products to overseas markets; and cruise ships.

Respondents embarked upon a plan, starting in 1992, to search the tax rolls of port properties in this state in an attempt to impose an ad valorem tax burden on property owned by the ports but leased to non-governmental tenants, and never before taxed, for as long as 80 years in the case of the Port of Palm Beach District. For the Port of Palm Beach District the ad valorem tax burden would be almost \$500,000 per year for a port that received total revenue of approximately \$6,549,892 in 1992 (R. 594). Ad valorem taxes for the years 1992 through the date of rendition of a decision in this case could be as high \$3,000,000.

The Port of Palm Beach District filed a suit seeking declaratory relief under Chapter 86, Fla. Stat., and for injunctive relief against Nikolits in the 15th Judicial Circuit Court, in and for Palm Beach County on September 11, 1992 (R.1-33). After the hearing on Petitioner's Motion

1

for Summary Judgement, the Honorable Judge Hoy entered a Summary Judgement in favor of Petitioner on June 22, 1993 (R-520-522), finding that the real property owned by the Port of Palm Beach District was immune from taxation by virtue of the fact that the Port was a political subdivision of the state of Florida and enjoining Nilolits from assessing taxes on the real property owned by the Port of Palm Beach District and leased to non-governmental lessees..

÷.

A final judgement was entered on September 9, 1993 (R.583-586), which was subsequently amended on June 14, 1995 to properly reflect the parcel identification numbers of the properties which were the subject matter of the suit. Judge Hoy's Final Judgement entered an injunction against Nikolits from taxing the subject properties. After issuing the 1992 tax bills, which were the predicate for the filing of the action in the Circuit Court, Nikolits issued ad valorem tax bills for 1993 and 1994 with the same assessments as in the 1992 bills, but with the taxable value being set at zero.

Notices of Appeal to the Fourth District Court of Appeal ("Fourth District") were filed on October 7, 1993 by Respondent DOR (R. 603-611), and Respondent Nikolits (R. 612-613).

At the time of the oral argument on the appeal to the Fourth District, the Fifth District Court of Appeal ("Fifth District") had issued its ruling in <u>Florida Department of Revenue v.</u> <u>Canaveral Port Authority</u>, 642 So. 2d 1097 (Fla. 5th DCA 1994), *review granted* 652 So. 2d 816 (Fla. 1995). The Fourth District issued its opinion on February 23, 1995. It adopted the findings of the Fifth District, and to a great extent relied upon the absence of a designation in the charter of the Port of Palm Beach District that it was a political subdivision of the state.<sup>1</sup> After entry of

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>In fact, during oral argument the Fourth District asked counsel for DOR to confirm that if the charter of the Port of Palm Beach District contained the words, a subdivision of the state, that this case would be decided in favor of the Port. Counsel for DOR agreed with the Court.

the order from the Fourth District, the Port of Palm Beach District filed its Notice to Invoke Discretionary Jurisdiction.

\_

÷

.

.

è

ĺ

### SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The Port of Palm Beach District, a special taxing district and political subdivision of the state of Florida, is before this Court to confirm the immunity of its real property from ad valorem taxation. In 1992, Respondents began to claim that the passage of the tax reform act, Chap, 71-133, Laws of Fla. (1971), repealed the immunities and exemptions relied upon by this port and others for so many years. Respondents' have waited over 22 years to argue that port properties are taxable under this statute.

As its first point on appeal, the Port of Palm Beach District submits it is a political subdivision of the state, immune from ad valorem taxation. In fact its charter, Chap. 74-570, Laws of Fla. (1974), provides that the Port of Palm Beach District is not subject to regulation or control of any other political subdivision, Palm Beach County, the City of Riviera Beach, or any state agencies, other than the trustees of the internal improvement trust fund.

This Court has approved the rational set forth in <u>Sarasota-Manatee Airport Authority v</u>. <u>Mikos</u>, 605 So. 2d 132 (Fla. 2d DCA), *review denied*, 617 So. 2d 320 (Fla. 1993), which established a clear statement of when governmental units of this state are immune from ad valorem taxation of their real property leased to non-governmental lessees.

Under this authority, the Port of Palm Beach District is immune from ad valorem taxation. Application of a strict pass/fail taxability test, based upon whether the user is in business to make a profit, as suggested by Respondents, is not supported anywhere by statute. In fact the Legislature has consistently exempted or retained immunity of the property of numerous governmental units that have leased their property to a user for **profit**.<sup>2</sup> To adopt the Respondents' test will, for example, expose the state of Florida to ad valorem tax liability for its leases of submerged state land to non-governmental lessees, a result clearly not intended by the Legislature.

Secondly, the Port of Palm Beach District is designated as a political subdivision under its charter, A careful examination of the special powers granted to the Port of Palm Beach District by its charter shows that it is unregulated by **any other political subdivision of the state**, By implication, the Legislature has included the Port of Palm Beach as a political subdivision.

Thirdly, Petitioner brought to the attention of the Legislature during the 1995 Legislative session that this Court, in <u>Sarasota-Manatee Airport Authority v. Mikos</u>, <u>supra</u>, acknowledged that the designation of a unit of government as a political subdivision of the state gave that unit of government immunity from ad valorem taxation.

Petitioner had introduced in the Legislature during the 1995 session a special act that amended its charter to identify the Port of Palm Beach District as immune from ad valorem taxation as being a political subdivision of the state in the nature of a county insofar as ad valorem taxation is concerned. <sup>3</sup> This 1995 special act was passed by the unanimous votes of both legislative bodies, The Legislature has again reinforced its intention that the real property of the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Such users include: Fixed base airport operators, F. S. 196.0 12(6); users of renewable energy sources, F.S. 196.175; and companies engaged in the business of aquaculture, F. S. 253.68.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Chap, 95-467, Laws of Fla. (1995) added language that reads as follows:

<sup>&</sup>quot;The Port of Palm Beach District shall constitute a body politic and a body corporate, and is deemed to be a political subdivision of the State of Florida within the meaning of sovereign immunity from taxation, in the same manner as counties and other political subdivisions of the State of Florida."

Port of Palm Beach District is immune from taxation,

The Port of Palm Beach District also enjoys specific statutory exemption from ad valorem taxation. The clear language of the charter of Petitioner provides another specific exemption of its property from taxation, as well as the interests of its tenants.<sup>4</sup> Respondents argue that Chap, 7 1- 13 3, Laws of Fla. (197 1) repealed all special acts creating ports in this state, which may have had a tax exemption or immunity contained in their charters. The Port of Palm Beach District submitted its charter for readoption to the Legislature in 1974, and it was adopted by the passage of Chap. 74-570, Laws of Fla. (1974). This law, adopted three years after Chap. 71-133, Laws of Fla. (1971), was not affected in any way by the 1971 act relied upon by Respondents and supersedes any effect Chap. 7 1 - 13 3, Laws of Fla. (1971), may have had on the Port of Palm Beach District.

Petitioner also asks this Court to review the statutory analysis detailed in this brief and agree with Petitioner's position that Section 196.199(2)(a), Fla. Stat., provides a distinct and separate basis for the determination of when port property is exempt from ad valorem taxation, and that Section 196.199(4), Fla. Stat., relied on so heavily by Respondents to repeal any tax exemption or immunity of ports, does not, in fact, apply to ports at all.

The Port of Palm Beach District also enjoys the independent and specific exemption from ad valorem taxation granted to port authorities under Section 3 15.11, Fla. Stat., which provides

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> The pertinent section of Chap. 74-570, Laws of Fla. (1974) reads: "All property of and all revenues derived from such port facilities, including such parts thereof heretofore or hereafter constructed or acquired, shall be exempt from all taxation by the State of Florida, or by any county, municipality or other political subdivision thereof."

that a qualified unit is not required to pay any state, county, municipal or other taxes on its owned real property. Port facilities have the broadest possible definition under Chap. 3 15, Fla. Stat,, and the Legislature has decided that the operation of these facilities are proper public and governmental functions, used for public purposes.

As a final point, this Court is asked that if, in spite of the arguments set forth above to the contrary, it were to find that the real property of Petitioner is subject to ad valorem taxation, that such a finding be prospective only and not retrospective to the date Nikolits first purported to impose such ad valorem taxes,

### ARGUMENT

# I. THE PORT OF PALM BEACH DISTRICT IS A POLITICAL SUBDIVISION OF THE STATE OF FLORIDA, AND IS ADMINISTERING THE GENERAL POLICIES OF THE STATE OF FLORIDA IN THE LEASING OF ITS PROPERTIES TO NON-GOVERNMENTAL LESSEES.

The state of Florida, in adopting Chapter 3 11, Fla. Stat., has identified the promotion and continued development of a commercial viable network of deep water ports in this state as an important governmental function, The method of implementing this governmental function is through the funding and management of a network of twelve deep water ports, as identified in Section 3 11.09(1), Fla. Stat.. These specialized transportation entities use waterborne commerce to implement and further the governmental function and purpose expressed by the Legislature.

The Port of Palm Beach District is a creature of the Legislature, and unlike the ports of Miami, Everglades and Jacksonville', its competing ports on the eastern seaboard, is not an arm of county government. The special act that created the Port of Palm Beach District gave it all of the powers of a county, and a duty to perform tasks that are certainly not those of a municipality

It was a similar governmental function and purpose that the Second District was asked to review in <u>Sarasota-Manatee Airport Authontv v</u>, <u>Mikos</u>, <u>Inprthat</u> case it was commerce through the air rather than through water. However the government's purpose, and the goal it desired to achieve were the same; the enhancement of the economy of this state. The Legislature has, by the passage of Chapter 3 11, Fla. Stat., devised a method to increase the economic well being of this state and its citizens by the promotion of waterborne commerce, which relies upon the transportation of goods from one place to another.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> Chap, 94-422, Laws of Fla. (1994) defined the Jacksonville Port Authority as an agency and political subdivision of the state in the nature of a county and not a municipality.

Florida courts have long recognized that the government can promote certain types of economic development, and that these activities qualify as a valid governmental purpose, <u>State v.</u> <u>Miami Beach Redeveloament Agency</u>, 392 So. 2d **875** (Fla. **1981**); <u>Panama Citv v. State</u>, 93 So, 2d 608 (Fla. 1957) and <u>Straughn v. Camp</u>, 293 So. 2d 689 (Fla. 1974). In <u>State v. Miami Beach</u> <u>Redevelonment Agency</u>, supra, this Court stated the test was:

"If a project serves a public purpose sufficient to allow the expenditure of public **funds** and the sale of bonds under article VII, section 10, then the use of eminent domain in furtherance of the project is also proper."

**392** So. 2d at page **885** 

The charter of the Port of Palm Beach District grants it the same powers of eminent

domain and issuance of revenue bonds as were under consideration in the State v. Miami Beach

Redevelopment Agency case.

As long ago as 1952 this Court agreed that transportation of goods and people, from one

place to another, albeit via a different medium, could be a valid governmental purpose. In State v.

Town of North Miami, 59 So. 2d 779 (Fla. 1952) it was found that:

". air transportation, such as that flowing into and out of Miami serves a real public purpose, and in developing this port, owning and operating the same, it could not be said that the City of Miami was not serving a public purpose and municipal purpose."

59 So. 2d at page 784.

The same rational used by the Second District in Sarasota-b Airport Authority y.

Mikos. supra, as to air transport is applicable to waterborne transport. Both the Sarasota-

Manatee Airport Authority and the Port of Palm Beach District are specialized governmental

units, political subdivisions of this state, as is expressly or impliedly stated in their charters,

engaged in the furtherance of recognized governmental functions, whose purpose is the improvement of the economic condition of the state. The Fifth District in <u>Florida Department of Revenue v. Canaveral Port Authority</u>, <u>supera</u>, considered the application of Chapters 3 15 and 3 11, Fla. Stat. in reaching a decision that can only be considered as strained, in order to distance that court's opinion from the <u>Sarasota-Manatee Airport Authority</u> v. <u>Mikos</u> finding.

There are no other cases cited in support of the Fifth District's new standard for determining when a governmental entity is a political subdivision of the state, in the absence of a proper label from the Legislature. Their new test is:

> " an authority is a political subdivision of the state depends on whether the entity claiming immunity acts as a branch of general administration of the policy of the state."

> > 642 So. 2d at page 1100.

When viewed together, Chapterss 3 11 and 3 15, Fla. Stat. are a clear and unequivocal expression, using the broadest language possible, that the promotion of international trade and commerce through the state's deep water ports is a governmental function, to be supported by the expenditure of both state funds, Sections 3 11.09(4) & (5), Fla. Stat., and local (port generated) funds. If this Court agrees that the Port of Palm Beach District is performing the general administration of the policies of the state, as set forth in Chaps. 3 11 and 3 15, Florida Stat., then under either the holding of this Court in <u>Sarasota-Manatee</u>, or under the new criteria established by the **Fifth** District in Florida Department of Revenue v. Canaveral Port Authority, the Port of Palm Beach District is a political subdivision of the state of Florida and its real properties are immune from ad valorem taxation.

In addition to the above reasoning for finding the Port of Palm Beach District a political

subdivision of the state, an examination of existing law indicates that the Legislature has clearly expressed its opinion of what is to be considered as a political subdivision of this state. In Section 196.29, Fla. Stat., readopted as recently as 1988, which deals with cancellation of ad valorem taxes upon property acquired during the tax year by a governmental unit, political subdivisions are defined as one of the units which can avail itself of that statutory provision, and uses the definition of political subdivision set forth in Section 1 .01, Fla. Stat. Included within that definition are:

"counties; cities; towns; villages; special tax districts; special road and bridge districts; bridge districts; and all other districts in this state."

As stated by this Court in <u>Williams v. Jones</u>, 326 So. 2d 425 (Fla. 1975), appeal

dismissed, 429 U.S. 803, 50 L. Ed. 2d 63, 97 S. Ct. 34 (1976),

".,, the Legislature is presumed to know the existing law when it enacts a statute and is also presumed to be acquainted with the judicial construction of former laws on the subject concerning which a later statute is enacted."

**326** So. 2d at 435.

Accordingly, the Port of Palm Beach District is a political subdivision of this state, and

exempt from ad valorem taxation.,

# II. THE CHARTER OF THE PORT OF PALM BEACH DISTRICT DEFINES IT AS A POLITICAL SUBDIVISION OF THE STATE OF FLORIDA, AND GRANTS IT IMMUNITY FROM AD VALOREM TAXATION.

The Port of Palm Beach District is an independent special taxing district of the state of

Florida, as defined in Section 189.4035, Fla. Stat., and governs an area of 971 square miles or

approximately one half of Palm Beach County. Under its charter, which was originally enacted as

Chap. 7081, Laws of Fla. (1915), the Petitioner enjoys all of the attributes of a political

subdivision in the nature of a county, including the right to levy ad valorem taxes, issue general obligation and revenue bonds, acquire property by eminent domain, and operate a transportation system, including bridges, subways, railroads, wharfs and docks

Special powers granted to the Port of Palm Beach District, and which are not generally granted to municipalities, include the acquisition of harbor and port facilities, establishment of foreign trade zones under the control of the United States Department of Commerce, establishment and operation of a railroad under the control of the Interstate Commerce Commission and the Federal Railroad Retirement Board, the undertaking of oceanographic research, development and commerce, and the right to loan money to the United States of America for harbor dredging and deepening.

The most distinct and unique power given to the Port of Palm Beach District may be found in Article 8, Section 2, Special Powers, subsection 25, of Chap. 74-570, Laws of Fla. (1974):

"Except as provided in this act, the approval of any other political subdivision or public body, agency or instrumentality of the State of Florida, except for the board of the trustees of the internal improvement trust fund, shall not be required for the approval, grant or exercise of any of the powers granted by this act, The State of Florida hereby consents to the exercise of any and all powers granted by this act without further authorization or approval hereof by any of its agencies or instrumentalities, except as may be required from the board of the trustees of the internal improvement trust fund as to the use of any state lands lying under water, and which are necessary for the accomplishment of the purposes of this act."

### Emphasis added.

The above exculpation from regulation of the Port of Palm Beach District from any city,

county, agency or other political subdivision of the state of Florida is a power that even the counties of this state do not have. The use of the words **other political subdivisions** is a clear indication that the Legislature considers the Petitioner a political subdivision of this state. Otherwise they would have used the words **approval of any political subdivision** instead of the cited language.

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