#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

Case No. 85,434

) )

)

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

The Port of Palm Beach District espouses a "binary" - on or off - concept of immunity from taxation. It argues that while the Legislature can create and abolish a district, such a district has complete immunity from taxation during its existence. Petitioner argues that no mater what the Legislature says in the enabling act, e.g., that Petitioner's property is only "exempt" from taxation, the Legislature is powerless to modify this amorphous immunity unless it terminates the District's existence.' The Legislature arguably knew what it was doing when it so accurately described the Port of Palm Beach District as a "proprietary" organization.

Petitioner first argues that Chapter 311, Florida Statutes, identifies promotion and continued development of a viable "network" of deep water ports as an important governmental function, but in the same breath speaks of "competing" ports. The ports are either a network or they are not, and they probably are not. As is the case of cities bidding against one another to attract professional sports teams, a port giving an inducement to a company to locate at its facility will operate to the detriment of the port where that company is presently located. Chapter 311, Florida Statutes, only provides an orderly mechanism for spending funds derived from the State Transportation Trust Funds for the dredging or deepening of channels, construction of wharves, docks, etc., acquisition of cranes, environmental protection projects and

Indeed, the Legislature in §5 of Chapter 91-346, Laws of Florida 1991, abolished the Port Everglades District and Port Everglades Authority and transferred all its property to Broward County effective November 22, 1994.

the like, and appointment of a fifteen person committee from the ports of the state to divide the pie.

There is a huge difference between a 'public purpose' sufficient to authorize a sale of bonds, for example, and a "governmental-governmental" purpose, which is what a tenant must do in order for its property to be exempt.' The Second District Court of Appeal confused the two concepts in Sarasota-Manatee, supra.

As a "landlord **port"**, the Port of Palm Bach District does little more than lease out land to businesses whose function it is to make profits for their stockholders. Business activities of tenants at the Port of Jacksonville do not serve a governmentalgovernmental purposes. See, e.g., Mallard v. R. G. Hobelmann & Company, Inc., 363 So.2d 1176 (Fla. 1st DCA 1978) [the storage, warehousing and servicing of imported motor vehicles at the Port of Jacksonville does not serve a public purpose]; St. John's Associates v. Mallard, 366 So.2d 34 (Fla. 1st DCA 1978) [Even though Hobelmann's lessor is performing a function which the Jacksonville Port Authority is authorized to perform, it is a proprietary function competing with other private enterprises in Jacksonville. "St. John's and Hobelman's operations were no less proprietary and for profit than were those of Daytona Beach Racing and Recreation Facilities District or the commercial lessees on Santa Rosa Island". Id. @ 38.]

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup> For example, in the Port Everglades case, Judge Korda found that the tugboats at Port Everglades served a governmental-governmental function since they fight fires and have the ability to contain pollution when requested. (A-7).

Because operating a place to dock ships is not unique to government, viz. privately-owned dock facilities at Port Laudania, the Miami River, the **Belcher** terminal on Fisher Island in Miami, etc., Petitioner's next argument that State statutes offering support to publicly owned port facilities turns them into governmental-governmental operations must fail. *See, Mikos* v. *City* of Sarasota, supra footnote 3, holding that a municipal marina leased to a non-governmental lessee serves or performs no governmental, municipal or public purpose or function.

Petitioner blurs the relevant dates, January 1, 1992 and 1993, with the present. It is not known why the Port cites 1994 and 1995 acts of the Legislature at IB-8, footnote 5, and 13-14, as such laws could have no possible effect on the taxable status of the Port's lands as of January 1, 1992 in the absence of retroactivity language which does not exist in those enactments. As of January 1, 1992, Port Everglades was not part of county government as misstated at IB-8. And, to be precise, the Port of Jacksonville is part of the consolidated City of Jacksonville, the lines between Duval County and the City of Jacksonville being indistinct.

Whatever vitality Sarasota-Manatee Airport Authority, supra may have had, has been vitiated by the same Court's later holding in Sebring Airport Authority **v. McIntyre**, 623 **So.2d** 541 (Fla. 2d DCA **1993**), affirmed 642 **So.2d** 1072 (Fla. 1994). Neither the Second District Court of Appeal nor this Court could not have reached its governmental-proprietary conclusion without first finding that property of the Sebring Airport Authority was not **"immune"** but only

"exempt" from taxation. The Sebring Airport Authority has powers identical to that of the Port of Palm Beach District, see Chapter 67-2070, Laws of Florida 1967, as amended by Chapter 82-382, Laws of Florida 1982, Chapter 89-484, Laws of Florida 1989, and Chapter 91-415, Laws of Florida 1991. The Sebring Airport Authority vigorously argued to this Court at Page 14 of its Brief on the Merits in Case No. 82,489 that it was a political subdivision of the State, entitled to immunity from taxation, citing Sarasota-Manatee Airport Authority v. Mikos, supra.

The people of Florida have authorized only sixty-seven political subdivisions in Art. VIII, Section 1, **Const.Fla.** 1968, providing that the State shall be divided by law into political subdivisions called counties. At IB-11, Petitioner argues that the Legislature included **"districts"** as "political subdivisions" in Section 1.08, Florida Statutes. Petitioner misquotes the statute.

Section 1.01(8), Florida Statutes, states that the words "public body," "body politic," or "political subdivision" include counties, cities, towns, villages, special tax school districts, special road and bridge districts, bridge districts, and all other districts in this state. Contrary to the Port's suggestion at IB-11 that this section defines "districts" as constituting "political subdivisions", reading that section and the Constitution together, it is clear that the Legislature must be referring to "counties" as political subdivisions and all other districts as "public bodies" or "bodies politic" for that section to be in harmony with the Constitution.

Section 189.402(6), Florida Statutes, does not create any immunity. That section simply defines "special districts" as \*@local units of special purpose government". This is clearly what the Port of Palm Beach District is.

Government in Florida has often lent its credit, but not its taxing power, to help citizens borrow money at low rates. For example, Chapter 418, Part II, Florida Statutes, provides for the creation of "special recreation districts" which can employ revenue bond financing to help residents of mobile home parks and condominiums to buy out onerous recreation leases. The powers of such districts in Sections 418.22 and 418.34, Florida Statutes, mirror the powers the Legislature granted to Port of Palm Beach District in its charter. The Port suggests that once the residents of a condominium form such a district to buy out the recreation lease, binary immunity turns "on" and its lands become immune from taxation, since the Legislature is powerless to prescribe otherwise. A mobile home park recreation area should not be immune from taxation because the owners used a public revenue bond financing device to pay off the lease.

Andrews v. Pal-Mar Water Control District, 388 So.2d 4 (Fla. 4th DCA 1980), rev.den. 392 So.2d 1371 (Fla. 1980), does not control our case. That short decision reveals that none of the land sought to be taxed was leased out. This case fits into our "decision matrix" on the "not leased" branch, hence the Court need not have reached the question of whether the lands were immune or not. Even though the Fourth District Court of Appeal unartfully

used the word "immune", such land would still not have been taxable. City of Sarasota v. *Mikos*, 374 So.2d 458 (Fla. 1975) [Vacant land owned by a city but not leased is exempt, but taxable if used for a private city, citing Panama *City v. Pledger*, 140 Fla. 629, 192 So. 470 (Fla. 1939) and *City of Bartow v. Roden*, 286 So.2d 228 (Fla. 2d DCA 1973)].

The Port relies on Eldred v. North Broward Hospital District, 498 So.2d 911 (Fla. 1986), as holding that the 1968 Constitution somehow elevated a special tax district to the same immune status as a County, arguendo overruling Walden, supra. This Court held only that the North Broward Hospital District was an "independent establishment of the State", so the statutory waiver of immunity in Section 768.28, Florida Statutes, which also applies to municipalities, applies to it. No Court has ever held that a Port has a higher status than an "independent establishment of the State".

In Hargrove v. Town of Cocoa Beach, 96 So.2d 130 (Fla. 1957), this Court held that the term "political subdivision" excludes bodies of limited purpose and authority such as the Port of Palm Beach District:

The modern city is in substantial measure a large business institution. While it enjoys many of the basic powers of government, it is nevertheless an <u>incorporated</u> <u>organization</u> which exercises those powers for the benefit of the people within the municipal limits who enjoy the services rendered pursuant to the powers. To continue to <u>endow this type of organization with sovereian divinity</u> <u>appears to us to predicate the law of the Twentieth</u> <u>Century upon an Eiahteenth Century anachronism</u>. Judicial consistency loses its virtue when it is degraded by the view of injustice. Id. @ 133, e.s.

POINT II: THE CHARTER OF THE PORT OF PALM BEACH DISTRICT DEFINES IT AS A POLITICAL SUBDIVISION OF THE STATE OF FLORIDA AND GRANTS IT IMMUNITY FROM AD VALOREM TAXATION.

Petitioner is very wrong at IB-11 when it argues that it "governs" an area of 971 square miles or approximately 1/2 of Palm Beach County. The actual area of the Port over which it has control is only 187 acres, much smaller than the Sawgrass Mall in Broward County. Petitioner has no "governing" ability over those 971 square miles. It has no zoning power, no police power, nor any other power over those lands except to tax them if necessary.<sup>10</sup>

Petitioner argues at IB-13 that the "clearest expression" of its status as a political subdivision is found in Chapter 74-570, Laws of Florida 1974. If this is so, why did the Legislature choose the strange words,

The purpose of the changes in this act are to provide an integrated charter of the powers and safeguards necessary for the desired promotion and development of the facilities and services of the Port of Palm Beach, and the Port of Palm Beach District as proprietary in nature rather than governmental...

In Article XX of the charter, the Legislature declared that all of the powers bestowed on Petitioner are ".... proper public and proprietary purposes". Nothing in that act suggests that Petitioner's property is immune from taxation. To the contrary, in

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>10</sup> The firestorm that brought about the abolition of the Port Everglades Authority was probably its levying a token ad valorem tax on Broward County's homeowners, while at the same time its executive director was buying gold super-bowl sized rings for the commissioners and hosting stone crab lunches for shippers in New York City - all of which are most reasonable activities for a business.

Article X, Section 12, the act provides only for "exemption" of the port's property from taxation.

At IB-12, Petitioner suggests that its power to establish a foreign trade zone is a sovereign power. Foreign trade zones can and have been established in Florida by private landowners. See, e.g., Miami Free Zone Corp. v. Robbins, 542 So.2d 1007 (Fla. 3d DCA 1989), describing a free trade zone as simply a place like a bonded warehouse permitting importation of goods into the United States without paying duty. The Court observed that even though free trade zones were authorized and regulated by the Federal government, they are not a Federal instrumentality and are thus not immune from local taxation. The Court relied on United States Supreme Court decisions holding that the federal government's immunity from state taxation did not bar use taxes against government contractors. The Miami Free Zone was held subject to Dade County ad valorem taxes. Judge Korda also held that the Port Everglades free trade zone competes with the privately-owned Miami Free Trade Zone and that even though there are differences in the facilities, Port Everglades' Free Trade Zone is able to undercut the rates of the Miami **zone.**<sup>11</sup> This demonstrates the pernicious effect of allowing a public tenant to compete against those businesses who must operate on taxpaying land. It is just not fair that the public tenant enjoy that substantial advantage over its competitor.

Petitioner suggests that the Port of Palm Beach District has

<sup>&</sup>quot; See A-5 infra.

the power to undertake oceanographic research, development and commerce. This is not even arguably a governmental-governmental function. In St. Lucie County, the Harbor Branch Foundation owns property from which it conducts various scientific expeditions. Since these functions are carried out from privately-owned property, they are not sovereign activities.

Petitioner argues at IB-12 that it has sovereign characteristics because the enabling act authorizes it to act without obtaining approvals from other governmental bodies. Our record does not reflect whether the Port of Palm Beach lies within the jurisdiction of the City of Riviera Beach. It could present prickly issues of supremacy of local government if, for example, the land did lie within City limits and the City desired one thing while the Port wanted another. Petitioner must have overlooked the requirements of Article VIII, Section 2(6) of the charter, which requires it to obtain the permission of any municipality within which the project lies as a condition precedent to constructing, e.g., a bridge or tunnel to Peanut Island.

Even if Petitioner were a political subdivision, this does not mean that the Property Appraiser is precluded from assessing buildings and other improvements owned by the tenants, as is the case with several of the challenged assessments. See, e.g., Marathon Air **Service**, Inc. **v. Higgs**, 575 **So.2d** 1340 (Fla. 3d DCA 1991).

Even were this Court to find that the Port of Palm Beach District were somehow immune from taxation, the Legislature has it

within its power to waive immunity for all lands in Florida. In State v. Alford, 107 So. 2d 27 (Fla. 1958), this Court said:

That, within constitutional limits, the Legislature may provide for the taxation of lands or other property of the State, is readily conceded. The question arises: however, whether the subject act actually does so provide. Id. @ 29.

Other than in the case of charters such as that of the Port of Palm Beach District and Section 196.199(4), Florida Statutes, it has specifically exercised that power in the case of school board lands. See, e.g., Section 235.34, Florida Statutes, waiving the sovereign immunity of school districts as to the payment of special assessments for municipal and county improvements. Congress has waived immunity of the United States for various agencies.<sup>12</sup> A specific waiver of immunity exists in Article X, Section 12, of the Port of Palm Beach District's charter.

Beyond that, Section 196.199(4), Florida Statutes, waives immunity for property of any municipality, agency, authority or other public body corporate of the state which becomes subject to a leasehold interest of a nongovernmental lessee other than one performing a governmental, municipal or public purpose or function. The Legislature cannot be deemed to have enacted meaningless language. This Court has the duty to give effect to the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>12</sup> See, e.g., 12 USC 1825(a) and (b)(1-3), waiving immunity for real estate taxes on real property owned by the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation, Federal Savings and Loan Insurance Corporation, and Resolution Trust Corporation. Property of the Federal Home Loan Mortgage Corporation is taxable per 12 USC 1421(d) and Congress has waived immunity for taxation of certain property of the Veterans' Administration, 38 USC 1820(a)(6).

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